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r Hill Ststion 2t Kodalcanal:

Thils statlion acquired in 1912 through the generositj of
the women of our Synod hes 2 number of dwellings which offer
our micslonaries eand thelr famillies annual retreat during the

1ntenge heat.

Our ledlcal Work:

Our medlcal work was begun In 1913, when !1ss Ellerman,
R.N. was sent out; and in 1021-1922 an unpretentious hospital
wes erected at Ambur under Dr. Theo. J+ Doederlein, a short
term worker. At present the hospital has no American doctor.
The superintendent ls MNiss Angella Rehwinkel, R.N., asslsted
by Viss Amelia Doctor, R.N. Dispensaries are also conducted
at some of the other gtations where we are fortunate enough
to have 2 trained nurse or where some missionary's wife is é
former deaconess. Miss A. Christensen, a teacher, 1s &lso

working 2%t Ambur.

The Klsslon Districts

Cur ¥o. Ev. Luth. VMissions are conducted in the Madras
Preaidency, to which the so-called Madras (Indian) States
of Travancore, VYysore, and Cochin belong. Thls pro-
vince has an area of 142,330 square miles, which

means that 1t 12 as large as our States Chio, Indiana,
I1linois, and Maryland. The population of the Madras
Trovince is 42,322,270, or cne-third as large as our
whole Unlted States. 7

For the purpose of administration the India field is di-
vided into three districts or conferences - The Ambur

District Gonference (formerly called the Northern District

7. Polack, op. eit., p. 133.
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Conference because it was our most northern conference. This
name was very confusing because our entire mission field is
located in South India.), The Nagercoll District Conference,
and the Trivandrum District Conference.

The 1944 Lutheran Annual supplies the names of the present
missionaries and thelr stations.

The Ambur District Conference

Ambur
H. ¥, Grumm; H. A. Schulz (on leave of absence); J. G.
Stelnhoff; Miss A. Christensen.(Teacher) (Indefinite leave of
absence); iiss A. Docter, R. N. (Deaconess); Miass L. Rathke
(Deaconess) (Leave of absence); Kiss A. Rehwinkel, R. N.;
A. C. Swamidoss (Indlan pastor).
Bargur
J. G. P. Ngumann.

Kilmuringi-Vengall

A. Solomon (Indian pastor).

Kolar Gold Flelds
S. G. Lang; M. Daniel (Indian pastor).

Krishnagiri

D. 8. Stevenson (on furlough).
Pe Eu

W. E. Bertram; A. Perinbanayagam (Indlan pastor).

Vaniyambadl
¥. L. Kretzmann; H. T. Manns; M. Phillp (Indian pastor).
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The Nagercoll District Conference

Nagercoll
R. H. Brauer; G. C. Hattendorf; H. Lachmann; Wm. G.

Landgeaf (On furlough); A. J. Lutz; H. Rarl Mlller; E. H.
Prange; G. C. Schroeder; B. Strasen; R. M. Zorn; D. Dyralm
(Indian pastor); G. Jesudason (Tndian pastor); J. Swamidason
(Tndian pastor). |
Madura

S. Savarimuttu (Indian pastor).
Vadakangulam

H. P, Peckman; C. L. Rittman; W. C. Dukewits.
Vallloor

N. W. Kline; E. H. Prange.

{The Nagercoil Conference lles in the southern section

of Tranvancore, some fifty miles from the railroad.)

The Trivandrum District Conference

Allepy
D. S. Chuvula,

Balaramapuram

¥. Paulus (Indlan pastor).

Neyattikara
'H. B. Hahn.

Shertélla
K. ¥. Zorn (On furlough).
Trimandrum '

A. C. Fritze (On furlough); P. ¥. Rauffeld; E. H.
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Enoernschlld; w. A. Luedtke; ¥. J. Lutz {On furlsugh);
Go Oberneu; A. Rasch {0a furlough); G. R. Stefter (0n fur-

loughj; R. ¥

y
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Le Hs Wetzel; . L. Uyneken; 7. charles
(Indlac pastor); 4. 3. ¥anazses (Indian pastor); i. 3.
“anssalamanl (Tndilan paston).

The following men have served 1n the Indis mission

field: ¥, Bachmann (%eacher);

o1 A Ba

Jruxy R. J. Burow; T. J. Doederleln, ¥. D.; P. G. Eckert;

Ue fThlers; P, Porstcr; R. Treche; ¥. Y. Gruse; 7. ¥. Goerss;

Theo. ?gtknacht; J. Harae; . {lemann; P. F. Heckel; A.

Huebener; G. Huebener; R, M. Jank; Geo. €. Hellerbauer;

Yo e Hraemer; 4. KEuechle; ¥. Kuclt; E. ludwig; N. Leckband,

Ve Uay He o Levihn; E. He ¥eln.en; H. J. Heyer; F. Mohn;

Fe A4 Yueller; A, 4. Nueller; Thec. laether; H. Hau; G. 4.

faumann; W. ©e Relser; 4. V. Schlichten; R. 7. Sleving;

H. Stallewann; J. Williama; F. R. 'Zuoker; 7F. Blees; A. Noffke,
Beslles the mlssicnarles' wives the Tollowing women

workers have served in the India missicn fileld: the

Tisses Lulu Rllerménng e Feddersen, Y. A.;-L. Frerking, 3. S5c.}

. Hersld, R. ¥.; ¥. lutz, R, M. (now ¥rsg. #. E. Relaer);

zlsle B. Nahler, R.¥. (Deaconess) (now ¥rs. G. C. Hatten-

dorf); 7lara 5. ¥ueller, R. ¥. (now ¥rs. S. C. larg);E{sBohnsack,M.D.

- 8
Oberheu, R. Y.3 ¥Yeta Schraler, R. N. {(now ¥rs. ¥, Leckband).

To This informstion was obtaleed from ¥, G. Folack, Into
A1l the World and the Lutheran 4nnuals from 1929-1044.

8. 1bld,.



Statistices 2

Misseionaries (¥arch 1, 1943):

Evangelistic: 39 male (35 wives and 107 children -
6 children over 18 years)
Edueationals 1l male (1 wife and 3 children); 1 female

Yedical:s 1 rae deagoness-nurge, 1l deacones
Totals: 40 male (35 wives and 110 chlldren); 4 female

GAAYD TOTAL: A4 miasionaries, plus 35 wives and
110 children ; ?

The statistlcs glven below are flgures for one
year, November 1, 1941 to Cetober 31, 1942,

Congremations, 208; teachlnz and preachlng places
{(out stations), 68. 7Total, 276a.

Indiag Hission Helpers: Pastors, 10; evangellsts, 11;
catechlats, 197; teachers: male - 186 Missourl Luth-
eran, 22 other professed Christians, 12 non-Christiaas
(for secular brenches only); total, 190; female -

46 ¥issourl Lutheran, 4 other professed Christians;
total, 50. Orand totsl teachers, 250, Zible women,
12, Indian doctors, 2; male nurses, 4; female nurses,
4. 3Industrial workers, 13. - Grand total Iandian

Helpers, 493.

Number of villazes in which Christians live, 578;
gsouls, 19,5%4; baptized members, 15,608; communicant
members, 5,183; catechumens, 1,816; confirmands,
1,503%; adherents, 2,270.

¢, Btatistical Yearbook, op. cit.



ITI. The American Lutheran Church in India

For many years prior to the outbreak of the Great War
individuals and congregations of the Joint Synod of Chlo had
been contributing large sums to the forelgn mission work of
the Hermannsburg Soclety, since they had no foreign mlssion
project of their own. In 1908 President C. H. L. Schuette
authorized a committee to conslder the possibility of lo-
cating a foreign mission fleld of thelr own. In 1913 after
much negotiation, the Hermansburg Soclety agreed to turn the
two stations, Puttur and Kodur, over to the Chio Synod for
approximately 518,000. Thls sum was to cover the cost of
physical equipment at the stations. The Hermannsburg mis-
slonarles were to continue in the field until the Joint
Synod of Ohlio could send the necessary men. The Rev. Jesse
P. Pflueger, now of Parkland, Washington, was called and
commissioned on Pentecost, May 31, 1914 at St. Paul's Luthe-
eran Church, Columbus, Chlo. Soon t?ereafter he started for
Indla via Hermannsburg, Germany, whefe they desired to galn

3
some knowledge of their future work,
While Pflueger was at Hermannsburg, the World War broke
out and they returned to America. A little later the board

sent them out again. This time they were accompanied by the

1. F. Braun and C. V. Sheatcsley, Both Sides of the
Eguator, pp. 193-195.




35

Rev. Wm. F. Schmidt, now of Moorhead, Minnesota. They left
for India via Vancouver, Honkong, and Singapore. But on
arriving at Colombo, Ceylon, the Indian government turned them
back because Rev. Pflueger had recently been in Germany and
probably would be sympathetic. to the German cause on the
mission fleld. The Hermahn:burg mission, suffering because
of lack of man power, turned tﬁe entire work.over to the
Joint Synod, which in turn appealed to the Unlted Lutheran
Church centering about Guntur, Indla, to help. The United
Iutheran mission supplied this help, first through Dr.
Vietory lMcCauley as provisional secretary and later through
Dr. 3. C. Burger until 1921.2

In 1920 the Jolint Synod of Ohlo agaln tried to supply
this field with missionarles and thls time they succeeded.
In ¥ay the Rev. A. W. Wilch, the Rev, and ¥rs. S. Nicholson,
and Miss Laura Nicholson were sent tc India. In July they
were followed by C. V. Sheatsley, the commissloner of the
Board of Forelgn Mlsslions énd on July 24, 1920, on the veranda
of the old mission bungaloi the India Conference of the

Joint Synod of Ohlo was formed, taklng over all the work of

the Hermannsburg Soclety.3

After the British government permitted the German mig=-
sionaries to return under certaln conditions, they natyrally
desired to return to at least a part of their work in India,

After representatives of both socletles met in Hermannaburg

. lbid!.ppo 195-1960
s lbidc. ppo 196"197:

2
3
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in July 1929 1t was decided that the Hermannsburg Soclety
and the commissioners of the Joint Synod of Ohlo write &
petition to the India government to turn the entire work
and property of the mission in Indila to the Joint Synod of
Ohlo. This was accomplished and as a token of good will the
Chlo commissioners pledged $15,000 to the Hermannsburg
Soclety toward her mission work in South Africa.4
The India Conference is organized under the constitution
which it adopted in its first meeting in 1920 and later
ratified by the mother church. It is organized with a pres-
ident, vice-president, secretary, treasurer, and various
committees. The conference now meets seml-annually and super-
vizes all the problems and business of the mission. The study
of the Telugu language, the place where the missionary is to
live, and the general supervision of the work comes:under the
conference. Today Dr. R. Taeuber serves as executive secretary
of the Home Board. Until the merger in 1930 Dr. Schneider
served in this capaclity until he was succeeded by Dr. C. V.
Sheatsley. The executive secretary of the home board through
the treasurer forwards to the India treasurer all moneys
collected in the home land for the Indian mission. The home
board receives all minutes and reports from the India con-

ference and if possible the furloughed missionaries present

the work to, the Church.5

4, ibid., pp. 197-198.
5. 1bid., pp. 199-204

N b o
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St. Paul's Fleld

In 1928 a rather extensive mission territory, formerly
held by the London Missionary Society and the Arcot Misslon,
became avallable to the Joint Synod. The Rev. Carl Schwan,
on furlough at the time, presented the situation to the
pastors and members of St. Paul's Congregation at Toledo,
Ohlo. This church earnestly consldered the matter and ac-
cepted the challenge to support the entire field. In the
articles of agreement which St., Paul's signed in 1929 they
agreed to furnish all necessary funds for the erection,
equlipment and maintenance of one maln statlion and any sub-
stations that may be required in connectlon with the maln
station from time to time. They also agreed to pay the salary
of the missionary and his Indian helpers. This field centers
about Rayachotl and Piler. 1In general 1t 1s very similar to
the other mission stations of the American Lutheran Church.
The Rev. Schwan has supervision of this field but 1is subject

to the India COnference.6

Another bond existing between the missionaries sent to
India and the Indian pastors, catechlists, teachers, and
congregations 1s the Annual Workers' Conference, where all the
missionaries and Indian workers meet in a jolnt conference.
The éntlre work of the mission is dlscussed and glves an
excellent opportunity for acguaintance and mutual fellowship.
At thisg time the téachers and catechlsts are examined and

trained. For the most part the native Telugu tongue is used

60 1b1d0| ppo 204-207.
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at these conferences.?

The American Lutheran Church 2lso does Bible women or
Zenana work in Indla. 1In Indla the word “Zenana" refers to
the living quarters of women. According to the traditions
and customs of Indla no man outside of the immediate house-
hold is permitted to enter the quarters of the women. In the
mission field the women missionaries visit the zenanas with
thelr Bibles and impart the good news of salvation to then.

In 1937 two women missionaries were directing this
work - the Mlsses Ruth Meyer and Gertruth Kettner.8

Fducation is a major problem in India. With a population
of almost 400 mlllion we can readily understand why India's
problem of educating millions of chlildren with such a vast
population would be one of her major tasks. In a country
where a great many people are poverty-stricken the government
would have to find some means outside of direct taxatlon to
support a public school system. MNany sections of India have
no schools of any kind and any agency that 1s willing to
educate the masses 1s welcome by the government. Literacy in
India is very low. Statistics show that only about 13 per
cent of the male. population and two per cent of the female
population are 11terate.9

Dr. Brauer explains the term “grant-in-ald":

As a misgsionary enterprize in Indla, we are of
course not directly interested in helping to set up

an educational system for that country and finding
means for its support, laudable though such a purpose

8. 1b1d-l PDe" 221-223
9. ibid., p. 227.
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would be., But we are interested in training the
young to an intelligent appreciation of Christianity
and the 3ible and, therefore, we establish achools
where the chlldren are taught not only the most
fundamentsal secular branches like reading, writing,
and arithmetic, but also the fundamentals of our
Christlian faith. Where our schools conform to a
certaln simple curriculum which the government has
set up as a standard for elementary schools, we
receive what is known as "grant-in-ald." This means
that the government allowa a certain amount of money
in maintaining the school. The government figures
that any agency, native or foreign, that will help
educate the masses in the most elementary way, 1is
worthy of some support and is helping India in the
aggregate to at least read and write. Of course

we rechgnlize that it 1s possible %o become a Christian
without being able to read or write. The Gospel 1is
of such 2 nature that it can be taught to people and
belleved by them though they be unable to write their
own name or read a single sentence. The Lord has
been very merclful in making this provision that the
Gospel may be preached to all men whether literate
orilliterate. But many of the treasurers of the
Christian faith, much of the jJoy of Christian living
is denied those who are illiterate, hence as far as
possible with the means at hand, we maintaln schools
throughout our India mission field, 10 :

From the Women's Misslonary Qutlook we quote a brief
summary of the educational set up in the mission fileld of

the American Lutheran Ghnrch.'

Our mission fleld in India is irregular in shape
cotering an area about 100 mliles square with one and
a half a million people, caste and uncaste Hlndus.
The language Tekegu is the third ranking language of
India, and is spoken by about 50 million people.
There we operate a Higher Elementary School for
girls (grades 1-8) having 250 puplls. Nies M. Stahl
is the principal; a co-educational high school with
about 350 puplls. Trom the above schools we get
our future teachers; an Industrial School for the
girls under the direction of Miss Monke. There are
about 150 pupils. They take a 3-6 year course in
cottage industries and needlecraft; about 300 village
schools, having grades 1l-to 5; and & Bible Training

10. ibid., pp. 227-229




School for girls who have passed the 8th grade and
want to become Bible women.

There we offer training in a Teachers' College
to young men and women with abillty and character
who want to become teachers, and eventually evangelists;
& two year 3lble course to male teachers in mission
empley; a three year course in theology for teachers
who have finlished both high school and teachers'
college courges and whose work and charzcter are of
a high order. From these tralness we draw our lay-
preachers and pastors."

Kodaicanal, the ideal reat station of the Indian mlssion-
aries, is about 300 miles south of the field of the American
Lutheran Church's mission. Ag the families of the mission-
arles increased the question was not where to send thelr
children to school (for they send their children to a school
at Kodl called the High Clerc), but where the chlldren were

to board and who should supervize thelr 1life and extend to

them Christian parental direction and 1eadersh1p.11

At thie juncture an aged friend in Australia
came forward with a gift of £3,000 which could be
ug=d in providing quarters for the children of the
missionaries while attending school at Kodalcanal.
At about the same time a tract of land at Kodl
conslsting of about 17 acres was avallable at a
cost of £13,000. The tract was well situated for
the erecticn of a home or hostel for mlsslonary
children. It was about an eight-minute walk from
High Clerc school and seemed most exsellently adapted
to our purpose....¥ith the sanction of the Board,
the India Conference made the purchase. In ths
meantime, the Junior Kiassion Bands, throughout the
0old Joint Synod of Chio was organized into a de-
partment of the Women's Misslonary Federation.
This meant that the Federation would have in hand
the directing of the work of the Junlor Misslon
Bands. This was in 1919. The £3,000 left by the
Australian friend was applied to the purchase of
the land and since the entire project was to be a
direct henefit to the children of the misslonaries,
1t seemed good to all parties concerned that the

11- lbidl. pp. 239-2410
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payment of the remaining $10,000 should be a goal

toward which the Junior Bands of our eountry might

drive. This project was completed in 1930T¥é

Then the plens for & hostel bullding were completed and
submitted to the Board and finally approved by the Women's
Misslionary Federation. The Junior Bands eanthusiastically
continued their work and 10,000 more was collected. The
buildings were completed in 1936 about the same time that
the collection was completed.l3

Cut of gratitude to the youngest group in their Church,
many of them rnot even of school age, who contributed thelir
pennies, nickels, dimes, and also dollars, and collected
about 517,000 the hostel building was named Jumisba, as a
lasting memorial to their work.. Examine the word Jumisba.
If you separate it into three syllables, Ju-mis=-ba, you will
soon see that 1t is an abbreviation for Junlor ¥lssion Bands. 14

March 17, 1933 was a great day for the American Lutheran
Misslon in Indié wnen an entire hospital complex was de-
dicated as a medical missionary institution at Renlgunta.
The site of the hospital bulldings and the Pfelffer iemorial
School are located on & site of about twenty-six acres of
well-watered land. The cost of the hospital bulldlings was
about 75,000, They were sponsered chiefly by the Women's
Missionary Federation. ©Since its formal opening this
wonderful organization has been supporting the hospital to

the extent of geven thousand flve hundred dollars per year. 15

13- 1bido’ po 242.
14, ibid., pp. 242-243.
15' 1b1d0. pp. 253"254.
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In addition to the medical and surglcal work of the
nospital at Renigunta, there is also a leper asylum at
Kodur under the direction of the Rev. Carl ¥. Doermann.

Dr. Abraham, an Indian physician, has been doing excellent
/&
work as the doctor in charge of the leper asylum.

The dispensary at Kodur was erected by the
Sunday school at Butler, Pennsylvania, ¥rs. iary
Troutman belng a large contributor. Ten of thousands
of patients have been treated at this institution.
This is also under the missionary care of Rev.
Doermann. :

Way back 1n the days of Hermannsberg, a home
was provided for the elderly women of the mission.
For many years Mrs. C. Scriba had been in charge
of this work and now 1t is in the hands of lilss
Hepner at Nayudupet. The Women's Home in India
does not mean a large building or group of cottages
with heating plants and modern conveniences. It
means simply that & place of shelter ls provided,

g house of mud walls or soft brick with a thatched
roof....From twenty-five to thirty of these aged
cnes appreclate the service our misslon renders. 17

The lace school, alsoc known as the Women's Industrial
School at Nayudupet, has been a mission project since 1901.
The purpose of this project is to provide work for Chrisiian
women and girls who have been driven away from their re-

latives by fanatical Hindus. Sometimes there are more than

one hundred women enrolled.18

On a smaller scale Rev. Doermann ls carrying
forward some industrial work among his boys at Kodur.
These Indian boys are taught mat weaving and have
even ventured into poultry raising in which latter
field there seems to be much room for lmprovement

in South India. 19

loo Thid 253
17. ibld., 254-255.
18. ibid., 256-259.
19. ipid., 259.
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The Sheatsley Memorial Girls' School at Gudar was
dedicated on September 14, 1943, 20

The work of the American Lutheran Church would not
be complete 1f some reference were not made to the lives of
those who helped make 1ts history. %We shall list the

misslonaries as they appeared on the mission field:

The Rev._sznd M¥rs._ Carl Scriba: The Rev. Carl Scriba was

born June 2, 1872 at the mission station Sulurpet. His father
was a missilonary with the Hermannsburg Mission Soclety. Rev. _
Scriba was educated in Germany and entered the service of the
Hermannsburg Soclety in 1908. At the outbreak of the World
dar all the German missionaries were repatriated by the British
government except Scriba because he was a Britlish subject and
therefore demanded to remain in India, his native land. The
Rev. Scriba served as a counecting link between the retiring
German missionaries and the inexperienced Americans. Rev.
Seriba could speak English, German, and Telugu fluently.

This enabled him to render valuable service in preparing
textbooks in Telugu to be used in the schools and seminaries.
In all his work he was assisted by hls good wife, the former
Miss A. Drews. His retirement from foreign misslon service
began on July 1, 1937 after having served under Hermannsburg
nineteen years and under the Joint Synod of Chio and the

i 4
American Lutheran Church twenty years.

20. Richard Taeuber, "Occupy," The Lutheran Missionary,
Vol. XXIV, (Karch 1944), p. 3.
21. Brauer and Sheatsley, op. cit., pp. 261-263.




